

# METROPOLITAN PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES

# October 10, 2019 4:00 pm Regular Meeting

# 700 Second Avenue South

(between Lindsley Avenue and Middleton Street)
Howard Office Building, Sonny West Conference Center (1st Floor)

### MISSION STATEMENT

The Planning Commission guides growth and development as Nashville and Davidson County evolve into a more socially, economically and environmentally sustainable community, with a commitment to preservation of important assets, efficient use of public infrastructure, distinctive and diverse neighborhood character, free and open civic life, and choices in housing and transportation.

Commissioners Present: Greg Adkins, Chair Jessica Farr, Vice Chair Ron Gobbell Lillian Blackshear Daveisha Moore Roe Elam Dr. Pearl Sims Brian Tibbs

Commissioners Absent: Jeff Haynes Staff Present:

Lucy Kempf, Executive Director
Kelly Adams, Admin Services Officer IV
Lisa Milligan, Planning Manager II
Greg Claxton, Planning Manager I
Shawn Shepard, Planning Manager I
Marty Sewell, Planner III
Jason Swaggart, Planner II
Latisha Birkeland, Planner II
Abbie Rickoff, Planner II
Amelia Lewis, Planner II
Logan Elliott, Planner II
Joren Dunnavant, Planner II

Miranda Clements, Planner II Laura Hardwicke, Planner I

Eben Cathey Quan Poole, Legal

#### **Lucy Alden Kempf**

Secretary and Executive Director, Metro Planning Commission

Metro Planning Department of Nashville and Davidson County
800 2nd Avenue South P.O. Box 196300 Nashville, TN 37219-6300
p: (615) 862-7190; f: (615) 862-7130

# **Notice to Public**

# Please remember to turn off your cell phones.

Nine of the Planning Commission's ten members are appointed by the Metropolitan Council; the tenth member is the Mayor's representative. The Commission meets on the second and fourth Thursday of each month at 4:00 pm, in the Sonny West Conference Center on the ground floor of the Howard Office Building at 700 Second Avenue South. Only one meeting may be held in December. Special meetings, cancellations, and location changes are advertised on the <u>Planning Department's main webpage</u>.

The Planning Commission makes the final decision on final site plan and subdivision applications. On all other applications, including zone changes, specific plans, overlay districts, and mandatory referrals, the Commission recommends an action to the Council, which has final authority.

Agendas and staff reports are <u>posted online</u> and emailed to our mailing list on the Friday afternoon before each meeting. They can also be viewed in person from 7:30 am – 4 pm at the Planning Department office in the Metro Office Building at 800 2nd Avenue South. <u>Subscribe to the agenda mailing list</u>

Planning Commission meetings are shown live on the Metro Nashville Network, Comcast channel 3, <u>streamed online live</u>, and <u>posted on YouTube</u>, usually on the day after the meeting.

# **Writing to the Commission**

Comments on any agenda item can be mailed, hand-delivered, faxed, or emailed to the Planning Department by noon on meeting day. Written comments can also be brought to the Planning Commission meeting and distributed during the public hearing. Please provide 15 copies of any correspondence brought to the meeting.

Mailing Address: Metro Planning Department, 800 2nd Avenue South, P.O. Box 196300, Nashville, TN 37219-6300

Fax: (615) 862-7130

E-mail: planning.commissioners@nashville.gov

# **Speaking to the Commission**

Anyone can speak before the Commission during a public hearing. A Planning Department staff member presents each case, followed by the applicant, community members opposed to the application, and community members in favor.

Community members may speak for two minutes each. Representatives of neighborhood groups or other organizations may speak for five minutes if written notice is received before the meeting. Applicants may speak for ten minutes, with the option of reserving two minutes for rebuttal after public comments are complete. Councilmembers may speak at the beginning of the meeting, after an item is presented by staff, or during the public hearing on that Item, with no time limit.

If you intend to speak during a meeting, you will be asked to fill out a short "Request to Speak" form.

Items set for consent or deferral will be listed at the start of the meeting.

Meetings are conducted in accordance with the Commission's Rules and Procedures.

# **Legal Notice**

As information for our audience, if you are not satisfied with a decision made by the Planning Commission today, you may appeal the decision by petitioning for a writ of cert with the Davidson County Chancery or Circuit Court. Your appeal must be filed within 60 days of the date of the entry of the Planning Commission's decision. To ensure that your appeal is filed in a timely manner, and that all procedural requirements have been met, please be advised that you should contact independent legal counsel.

The Planning Department does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, age, religion, creed or disability in admission to, access to, or operations of its programs, services, or activities. Discrimination against any person in recruitment, examination, appointment, training, promotion, retention, discipline or any other employment practices because of non-merit factors shall be prohibited. For ADA inquiries, contact Josie Bass, ADA Compliance Coordinator, at (615) 862-7150 or e-mail her at josie.bass@nashville.gov. For Title VI inquiries, contact Human Relations at (615) 880-3370. For all employment-related inquiries, contact Human Resources at (615) 862-6640.

# **MEETING AGENDA**

# A: CALL TO ORDER

The meeting was called to order at 4:00 p.m.

# B: ADOPTION OF AGENDA

Mr. Gobbell moved and Dr. Sims seconded the motion to adopt the agenda. (8-0)

# C: APPROVAL OF SEPTEMBER 26, 2019 MINUTES

Dr. Sims moved and Mr. Tibbs seconded the motion to approve the September 26, 2019 minutes. (8-0)

# D: RECOGNITION OF COUNCILMEMBERS

Mayor Cooper spoke for a brief moment and thanked the commissioners for all their hard work.

Councilmember Nash introduced himself and said he is looking forward to working with the commission.

# E: ITEMS FOR DEFERRAL / WITHDRAWAL

# 1a. 2019CP-003-003

BORDEAUX-WHITES CREEK-HAYNES TRINITY COMMUNITY PLAN AMENDMENT

### 1b. 2019SP-066-001

**CLARKSVILLE PIKE MIXED USE SP** 

### 2. 2019SP-027-001

**ROOTS EASTSP** 

### 3. 2019SP-045-001

2500 W. HEIMAN STREET

#### 4. 2019SP-048-001

**CEDARS OF CANE RIDGE SP** 

### 5. 2019SP-056-001

**ROBERTSON AVENUE RESIDENTIALSP** 

#### 6. 2019SP-061-001

**832 WEST TRINITY** 

# 7. 2019S-109-001

**RICHARDS FARMS SUBDIVISION** 

# 8. 2019S-160-001

1242 PROPERTY SOLUTIONS, LLC PROPERTY

#### 9. 2019CP-011-003

WEDGEWOOD HOUSTON AND CHESTNUT HILL

#### 14. 2019S-190-001

KIRK ROBERT SEATON PROPERTY

Mr. Gobbell moved and Ms. Farr seconded the motion to approve the Deferred and Withdrawn Items. (8-0)

Ms. Blackshear recused herself from Item 4.

# F: CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

- 10. 2013SP-029-003 49TH AND TENNESSEE, PHASE 2 SP (AMENDMENT)
- 11. 2018SP-018-001 325 FLORA MAXWELL ROAD SP
- 12. 2019SP-059-001 DRY CREEK STATION SP
- 13. 2019S-188-001
  LOT 70 SOUTHWOOD SUBDIVISION
- 16. 2019Z-141PR-001
- 18. 2019Z-150PR-001
- 19. 2019Z-151PR-001
- 20. Adoption of 2020 Calendar
- 21. Grant application to the Tennessee Department of Transportation Federal Congestion Mitigation Air Quality Program for continuation of Nashville Connector, a Transportation Demand Management program to help reduce mobile source emissions and improve air quality.
- 25. Accept the Director's Report and Approve Administrative Items

Ms. Moore moved and Mr. Tibbs seconded the motion to approve the Consent Agenda. (8-0)

<u>NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC</u>: Items on the Consent Agenda will be voted on at a single time. No individual public hearing will be held, nor will the Commission debate these items unless a member of the audience or the Commission requests that the item be removed from the Consent Agenda.

### G: ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED

1a. 2019CP-003-003

BORDEAUX-WHITES CREEK-HAYNES TRINITY COMMUNITY PLAN AMENDMENT

Council District 02 (Kyonzté Toombs)

Staff Reviewer: Gene Burse

A request to amend the Bordeaux-Whites Creek-Haynes Trinity Community Plan by changing from T3 Suburban Neighborhood Evolving Policy to T3 Suburban Mixed Use Corridor Policy for properties located at 3724 Clarksville Pike and Bellefield Avenue (unnumbered), zoned R10 (4.01 acres), requested by Kimley-Horn, applicant; Jerry N. & Belinda C. Vanatta, Trust; owner. (See associated case #2019SP-066-001).

Staff Recommendation: Defer to the October 24, 2019, Planning Commission meeting.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission deferred 2019CP-003-003 to the October 24, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (8-0)

#### 1b. 2019SP-066-001

#### **CLARKSVILLE PIKE MIXED USE SP**

Council District 02 (Kyonzté Toombs)

Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request to rezone from R10, CS, and CL to SP zoning for properties located at 3720, 3724, 3726, 3730, and 3800 Clarksville Pike and Bellefield Avenue (unnumbered), at the intersection of Lawrence Avenue and Belleford Avenue (11.23 acres), to permit a mixed use development, requested by Kimley-Horn, applicant; Jerry Vanatta, Bellinda Vanatta and Elizabeth Gatlin, owners. (See associated case #2019CP-003-003).

Staff Recommendation: Defer to the October 24, 2019, Metro Planning Commission meeting.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission deferred 2019SP-066-001 to the October 24, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (8-0)

### 2. 2019SP-027-001

#### **ROOTS EAST SP**

Council District 05 (Sean Parker) Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request to rezone from RS5 to SP-MU zoning for properties located at 930 McFerrin Avenue and 907 W Eastland Avenue, approximately 180 feet south of Seymour Avenue and within the Greenwood Neighborhood Conservation Overlay District (2.46 acres), to permit a mixed use development, requested by Smith Gee Studio, applicant; Woodland Street Partners, LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer indefinitely.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission indefinitely deferred 2019SP-027-001. (8-0)

### 3. 2019SP-045-001

#### 2500 W. HEIMAN STREET

Council District 21 (Brandon Taylor) Staff Reviewer: Joren Dunnavant

A request to rezone from RM40, IR and R6 to SP-MU zoning for properties located at 2518, 2500, 2404 West Heiman Street and Heiman Street (unnumbered), located along the north side of Grace Street, (11.68 acres), to permit all uses of RM40-A, requested by Smith Gee Studio, applicant; FMBC Investments, LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer to the November 14, 2019, Planning Commission meeting.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission deferred 2019SP-045-001 to the November 14, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (8-0)

### 4. 2019SP-048-001

#### CEDARS OF CANE RIDGE SP

Council District 31 (John Rutherford) Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request to rezone from AR2a to SP zoning for properties located at 5866 Pettus Road, Pettus Road (unnumbered), and a portion of property located at 5916 Pettus Road, approximately 880 feet northeast of Sundown Drive (43.7 acres), to permit 139 single family residential lots and open space, requested by Land Solutions Company LLC, applicant; Green Trails LLC and William Turner, owners.

Staff Recommendation: Defer indefinitely.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission indefinitely deferred 2019SP-048-001. (7-0-1)

#### 5. 2019SP-056-001

# **ROBERTSON AVENUE RESIDENTIAL SP**

Council District 20 (Mary Carolyn Roberts)

Staff Reviewer: Amelia Lewis

A request to rezone from R8 to SP zoning for properties located at 5824, 5826, 5828, and 5830 Robertson Avenue and Robertson Avenue (unnumbered), at the northeast corner of Sterling Street and Robertson Avenue (1.1 acres), to permit 19 multi-family residential units, requested by Klober Engineering Services, applicant; Good Ol' Boys LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer indefinitely.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission indefinitely deferred 2019SP-056-001. (8-0)

# 6. 2019SP-061-001

**832 WEST TRINITY** 

Council District 02 (Kyonzté Toombs) Staff Reviewer: Joren Dunnavant

A request to rezone from R8 to SP zoning for property located at 832 West Trinity Lane, approximately 1,040 feet west of Free Silver Road (1.0 acres), to permit 14 multi-family residential units, requested by Dale and Associates, applicant; MC Gran LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer indefinitely.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission indefinitely deferred 2019SP-061-001. (8-0)

### 7. 2019S-109-001

#### RICHARDS FARMS SUBDIVISION

Council District 02 (Kyonzté Toombs) Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request for final plat approval to create 11 lots on property located at 1601 East Stewarts Lane and a portion of property at 1501 East Stewarts Lane, approximately 375 feet south of Cedar Grove, zoned RS10 (2.55 acres), requested by Clint Elliott Survey, applicant; Gus Richards, Jr, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer indefinitely.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission indefinitely deferred 2019S-109-001. (8-0)

### 8. 2019S-160-001

#### 1242 PROPERTY SOLUTIONS, LLC PROPERTY

Council District 26 (Courtney Johnston)

Staff Reviewer: Amelia Lewis

A request for final plat approval to create nine lots on property located at Eisenhower Drive (unnumbered), approximately 85 feet east of Towry Drive, zoned R6 (1.24 acres), requested by Clint Elliott Surveying, applicant; 1242 Property Solutions, LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer indefinitely.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission indefinitely deferred 2019S-160-001. (8-0)

#### 9. 2019CP-011-003

#### SOUTH NASHVILLE COMMUNITY PLAN AMENDMENT

Council District 17 (Colby Sledge) Staff Reviewer: Anna Grider

A request to amend the South Nashville Community Plan on various parcels located in Wedgewood Houston and Chestnut Hill and amending the adopted Major and Collector Street Plan designations for various streets, requested by Metro Nashville Planning Department, applicant; various owners.

Staff Recommendation: Defer to the October 24, 2019, Planning Commission meeting.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission deferred 2019CP-011-003 to the October 24, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (8-0)

#### 10. 2013SP-029-003

#### 49TH AND TENNESSEE, PHASE 2 SP (AMENDMENT)

Council District 20 (Mary Carolyn Roberts)

Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request to amend the 49th & Tennessee Specific Plan for property located at 1200 49th Avenue North, approximately 130 feet south of Centennial Boulevard (4.33 acres), to add 6 multi-family residential units for a total of 61 multi-family residential units, requested by Dale and Associates, applicant; ECG 49TN LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Approve with conditions and disapprove without all conditions.

#### APPLICANT REQUEST

Amend an existing SP to permit 6 additional multi-family units.

#### Preliminary SP

A request to amend the 49th & Tennessee Specific Plan for property located at 1200 49th Avenue North, approximately 130 feet south of Centennial Boulevard (4.33 acres), to add 6 multi-family residential units for a total of 61 multi-family residential units.

#### **Existing Zoning**

<u>Industrial Restrictive (IR)</u> is intended for a wide range of light manufacturing uses at moderate intensities within enclosed structures.

# **Proposed Zoning**

<u>Specific Plan-Mixed Use (SP-R)</u> is a zoning district category that provides for additional flexibility of design, including the relationship of streets to buildings, to provide the ability to implement the specific details of the General Plan. This Specific Plan permits residential uses.

#### WEST NASHVILLE COMMUNITY PLAN

<u>T4 Urban Mixed Use Neighborhood (T4 MU)</u> is intended to maintain, enhance, and create urban, mixed use neighborhoods with a development pattern that contains a variety of housing along with mixed use, commercial, institutional, and even light industrial development. T4 MU areas are served by high levels of connectivity with complete street networks, sidewalks, bikeways, and existing or planned mass transit.

#### **History**

The existing SP was approved by the Metro Planning Commission on December 12, 2013. The SP received approval from Metro Council on March 28, 2014. The original request permitted up to 55 residential dwelling units on 4.12 acres of the site. The current proposal is to add the amendment area into the SP and permit an additional 6 multi-family residential units, for a total of 61 multi-family residential units on the 4.33 acre site.

#### Plan Details

The approximately 4.33 acre site is located at 1200 49th Avenue North, approximately 130 feet south of Centennial Boulevard. The site is flat and is developed. Development on the site includes the former office for Jackson Masonry. 49<sup>th</sup> Avenue North is classified as a local street.

Centennial Boulevard, located 120 to the north, is classified as a major arterial on the Major and Collector Street Plan.

#### **Plan Details**

The plan calls for the addition of 6 detached multi-family dwelling units. The additional units will result in a maximum of 61 multi-family residential units within the SP.

The proposed units will be consistent with the units in the original SP area. Five of the units will contain a two car garage. A single unit fronting 49<sup>th</sup> Avenue North will be served by surface parking at the rear of the unit. Height is limited to 3 stories in 35 feet. Amenity areas shown on the plan include a club house and swimming pool with guest parking located in the rear portion of the site. The existing trees along the northern property line are noted to remain with the development of this site.

Access for the proposed units will be provided through the existing SP; no additional points of access are proposed in the plan. Internal sidewalks have been provided and have a minimum dimension of 5 feet in width. The sidewalks will create an internal network providing pedestrian access to the proposed amenities within the site. A pedestrian connection is also provided to the proposed sidewalks along 49<sup>th</sup> Avenue North. A sidewalk and grass strip consistent with the standards for a local street will be provided along the frontage of 49th Avenue North.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The plan is consistent with the T4 MU policy, whereas the existing zoning IR zoning on this portion of the site is in conflict with the goals of the policy. The T4 MU policy is intended to enhance urban mixed use neighborhoods by providing a greater mix of higher density and mixed use development. The plan calls for 6 additional dwelling units. The plan and architectural standards are consistent with the urban nature of the policy and the architectural requirements within the existing SP. The SP will further enhance the pedestrian realm along 49<sup>th</sup> Avenue North by placing parking away from the frontage of the site.

#### FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION

#### Approve with conditions

Limited building detail, and/ or building construction information provided. Any additional fire code or access issues will be addressed during the construction permitting process.

# WATER SERVICES RECOMMENDATION

# Approve with conditions

Approved as a preliminary SP Amendment. Prior to Final Site Plan/SP approval, confirmation of capacity reservation for the additional units and update to the Variance for private sewer/water and Letter of Responsibility to include the proposed additional units.

### STORMWATER RECOMMENDATION **Approve**

# **PUBLIC WORKS RECOMMENDATION**

#### Approve with conditions

Final constructions plans shall comply with the design regulations established by the Department of Public Works. Final design and improvements may vary based on actual field conditions.

#### TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

Temporary construction drive off 49th Ave shall be scarified at completion of phase 2.

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: IR

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Warehousing (150)	0.50	0.6 F	13,068 SF	23	3	3

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: SP

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Multi- Family						
Residential	0.50	-	6 U	44	3	4
(220)						

Traffic changes between maximum: IR and SP

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
-	-	-	-	+21	0	+1

#### METRO SCHOOL BOARD REPORT

Projected student generation existing IR district: <u>0</u> Elementary <u>0</u> Middle <u>0</u> High Projected student generation existing SP-R district: <u>1</u> Elementary <u>0</u> Middle <u>0</u> High

The proposed SP-R zoning is expected to generate 1 additional student than the existing IR zoning district. Students would attend Cockrill Elementary School, McKissack Middle School, and Pearl-Cohn High School.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval with conditions and disapproval without all conditions.

#### CONDITIONS

- 1. Permitted uses shall be limited to a maximum of 61 multi-family residential units. Short term rental property owner-occupied and short term rental property not-owner occupied shall be prohibited.
- 2. All applicable conditions of council bill BL2014-659 will remain in effect with the approval of the amendment to the existing SP.
- 3. No encroachments into the required setbacks shall be permitted.
- 4. A revised copy of the preliminary plan shall be submitted which notes the required setbacks consistent with the setback distances shown on the site plan.
- 5. The dumpster enclosure shall be located outside of the required setback to the extent possible. The dumpster shall be fully screened from view and landscape screening shall be provided surrounding the enclosure.
- 6. Comply with all conditions and recommendations of Metro agencies.
- 7. If a development standard, not including permitted uses, is absent from the SP plan and/or Council approval, the property shall be subject to the standards, regulations and requirements of the RM20 zoning district as of the date of the applicable request or application.
- 8. A corrected copy of the preliminary SP plan incorporating the conditions of approval by Metro Council shall be provided to the Planning Department prior to or with final site plan application.
- 9. Minor modifications to the preliminary SP plan may be approved by the Planning Commission or its designee based upon final architectural, engineering or site design and actual site conditions. All modifications shall be consistent with the principles and further the objectives of the approved plan. Modifications shall not be permitted, except through an ordinance approved by Metro Council that increase the permitted density or floor area, add uses not otherwise permitted, eliminate specific conditions or requirements contained in the plan as adopted through this enacting ordinance, or add vehicular access points not currently present or approved.
- 10. The requirements of the Metro Fire Marshal's Office for emergency vehicle access and adequate water supply for fire protection must be met prior to the issuance of any building.

#### Approved with conditions and disapproved without all conditions. Consent Agenda. (8-0)

#### Resolution No. RS2019-318

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2013SP-029-003 is approved with conditions and disapproved without all conditions. (8-0) CONDITIONS

- 1. Permitted uses shall be limited to a maximum of 61 multi-family residential units. Short term rental property owner-occupied and short term rental property not-owner occupied shall be prohibited.
- 2. All applicable conditions of council bill BL2014-659 will remain in effect with the approval of the amendment to the existing SP.
- 3. No encroachments into the required setbacks shall be permitted.
- 4. A revised copy of the preliminary plan shall be submitted which notes the required setbacks consistent with the setback distances shown on the site plan.
- 5. The dumpster enclosure shall be located outside of the required setback to the extent possible. The dumpster shall be fully screened from view and landscape screening shall be provided surrounding the enclosure.
- 6. Comply with all conditions and recommendations of Metro agencies.
- 7. If a development standard, not including permitted uses, is absent from the SP plan and/or Council approval, the property shall be subject to the standards, regulations and requirements of the RM20 zoning district as of the date of the applicable request or application.
- 8. A corrected copy of the preliminary SP plan incorporating the conditions of approval by Metro Council shall be provided to the Planning Department prior to or with final site plan application.

9. Minor modifications to the preliminary SP plan may be approved by the Planning Commission or its designee based upon final architectural, engineering or site design and actual site conditions. All modifications shall be consistent with the principles and further the objectives of the approved plan.

Modifications shall not be permitted, except through an ordinance approved by Metro Council that increase the permitted density or floor area, add uses not otherwise permitted, eliminate specific conditions or requirements contained in the plan as adopted through this enacting ordinance, or add vehicular access points not currently present or approved.

10. The requirements of the Metro Fire Marshal's Office for emergency vehicle access and adequate water supply for fire protection must be met prior to the issuance of any building.

#### 11. 2018SP-018-001

#### 325 FLORA MAXWELL ROAD SP

Council District 30 (Sandra Sepulveda)

Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request to rezone from R6 to SP-R zoning on property located at 325 Flora Maxwell Road, approximately 730 feet east of Nolensville Pike (0.32 acres), to permit 4 multi-family residential units, requested by S and H Group, LLC, applicant; Pillars Development, LLC, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Defer to the November 14, 2019, Planning Commission meeting.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission deferred 2018SP-018-001 to the November 14, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (8-0)

#### 12. 2019SP-059-001

#### **DRY CREEK STATION SP**

Council District 10 (Zach Young)
Staff Reviewer: Joren Dunnavant

A request to rezone from CS, R10, and RS20 to SP zoning for properties located at Gallatin Pike (unnumbered), 320 Connare Drive, and 110 One Mile Parkway, at the southeast corner of Apple Valley Road and Connare Drive, (21.81 acres), to permit 442 multi-family residential units, requested by Catalyst Design Group, applicant; Grand Prix, LLC and Lyman T. and Judith Gayle Davis, owners.

Staff Recommendation: Approve with conditions and disapprove without all conditions.

#### **APPLICANT REQUEST**

Zone change from CS, R10, and RS20 to SP-R zoning.

#### Preliminary SP

A request to rezone from Commercial Service District (CS), One and Two-Family Residential District (R10), and Single-Family Residential (RS20) to Specific Plan-Mixed Residential (SP-MR) zoning for properties located at Gallatin Pike (unnumbered), 320 Connare Drive, and 110 One Mile Parkway, at the southeast corner of Apple Valley Road and Connare Drive, (21.81 acres), to permit 442 multi-family residential units.

#### **Existing Zoning**

<u>Commercial Service District (CS)</u> is intended for retail, consumer service, financial, restaurant, office, self-storage, light manufacturing and small warehouse uses (9.15 acres).

One and Two-Family Residential District (R10) requires a minimum 10,000 square foot lot and is intended for single-family dwellings and duplexes at an overall density of 4.63 dwelling units per acre including 25 percent duplex lots. R10 would permit a maximum of 52 lots with 12 duplex lots for a total of 64 units (11.34 acres).

Single-Family Residential District (RS20) requires a minimum 20,000 square foot lot and is intended for single-family dwellings at a density of 1.85 dwelling units per acre. RS20 would permit a maximum of 2 units (1.32 acres).

#### **Proposed Zoning**

Specific Plan-Residential District (SP-MR) is a zoning district category that provides for additional flexibility of design, including the relationship of streets to buildings, to provide the ability to implement the specific details of the General Plan. This Specific Plan includes a mixture of housing types.

### MADISON COMMUNITY PLAN

T3 Suburban Neighborhood Evolving (T3 NE) is intended to create and enhance suburban residential neighborhoods with more housing choices, improved pedestrian, bicycle and vehicular connectivity, and moderate density development patterns with moderate setbacks and spacing between buildings. T3 NE policy may be applied either to

undeveloped or substantially under-developed "greenfield" areas or to developed areas where redevelopment and infill produce a different character that includes increased housing diversity and connectivity. Successful infill and redevelopment in existing neighborhoods needs to take into account considerations such as timing and some elements of the existing developed character, such as the street network, block structure, and proximity to centers and corridors. T3 NE areas are developed with creative thinking in environmentally sensitive building and site development techniques to balance the increased growth and density with its impact on area streams and rivers.

T3 Suburban Mixed Use Corridor (T3 CM) is intended to enhance suburban mixed use corridors by encouraging a greater mix of higher density residential and mixed use development along the corridor. T3 CM areas are located along pedestrian friendly, prominent arterial-boulevard and collector-avenue corridors that are served by multiple modes of transportation and are designed and operated to enable safe, attractive, and comfortable access and travel for all users. T3 CM areas provide high access management and are served by highly connected street networks, sidewalks, and existing or planned mass transit.

<u>Conservation (CO)</u> is intended to preserve environmentally sensitive land features through protection and remediation. CO policy applies in all Transect Categories except T1 Natural, T5 Center, and T6 Downtown. CO policy identifies land with sensitive environmental features including, but not limited to, steep slopes, floodway/floodplains, rare or special plant or animal habitats, wetlands, and unstable or problem soils. The guidance for preserving or enhancing these features varies with what Transect they are in and whether or not they have already been disturbed.

#### **PLAN DETAILS**

The site is located on the northern end of Madison and just east of Gallatin Pike to the west. The site is comprised of 4 vacant properties totaling 21.81 acres. Surrounding land uses are primarily commercial and industrial to the south, vacant to the north, and residential to the east and west.

The plan proposes a residential development of 442 multi-family units in the form of stacked flats and townhomes. Sample elevations have been provided for the stacked flack units, which are proposed to be 3 stories in height. The townhome units are proposed to be a maxim of 2 stories in 30 feet. A raised foundation will be required for all residential units along public street frontages.

The plan includes a clubhouse, swimming pool, and bio-retention area in the center of the site. Additional open space is located throughout the site, including a publically accessible walking trail at the corner of Connare and Apple Valley. Surface parking will be provided internally throughout the site. The plan includes internal sidewalks throughout, 54 bicycle parking spaces, and a multi-use path along the rail road.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The plan proposes intensity of development which is consistent with both the T3 NE and T3CM policy areas, at this location. The buildings address the street, with parking located internally which is consistent with the design principles laid out in the policies. A sidewalk connection is being provided through the site, creating a more walkable area and providing direct connection for existing residents to better access services along Gallatin Pike. Providing a diversity of housing at this location supports the existing businesses along Gallatin Pike as well as current and planned transit services.

# FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

- Fire department access roads shall comply with IFC Chapter 5 and Appendix D. Fire Department access roads shall have an unobstructed clear width of 20'. Where a fire hydrant is located on a fire apparatus access road the minimum width shall be 26' exclusive of shoulders. 'No Parking- Fire Lane' signage shall be provided in accordance with IFC D103.6.
- Limited building detail, and/ or building construction information provided. Any additional fire code or access issues will be addressed during the construction permitting process.

# PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

- Final constructions plans shall comply with the design regulations established by the Department of Public Works. Final design and improvements may vary based on actual field conditions.
- Following approval of final plans by MPW, a recorded copy of ROW dedications will need to be submitted to MPW for Bldg. permit approval.

# STORMWATER DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

Offsite improvements may be required (along RR).

# WATER DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

Approved as a Preliminary SP only. Sanitary sewer capacity must be reserved prior to Final Site Plan/SP approval (see Permit No. T2019031584). Water provided by the Madison Suburban Utility District

# TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

Developer shall construct the following roadway improvements:

- Both site access drives should include sufficient width for a minimum of one (1) entering lane and one (1) exiting lane. A 'Stop' sign (R1-1) and stop bar should be installed on the egress approach.
- Sidewalks should be installed along the east side of Connare Drive and the south side of Apple Valley Road such that sidewalk spans the entire length of the property frontage.
- Considerations should be taken by the proposed development for travel demand management, including free introductory passes for transit service to residents and/or a kiosk including transit/rideshare information located in the leasing office.
- If construction is feasible within the existing right-of-way, pedestrian landings with ADA-compliant curb ramps should be installed on the northeast and northwest corners of the intersection of Gallatin Pike North and One Mile Parkway. Developer shall install ped signals at ped crossings as necessary.
- The south side of Apple Valley Road should be striped to include on-street parking along the property frontage or construct bulb in parking to allow a minimum of 2 travel lanes if on street parking is allowed on the opposing side of Apple Valley Rd.
- Adjacent to the project site, the travel lanes along Apple Valley Road should be marked as shared bicycle lanes in both directions.
- · Provide parking per metro code.

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: CS

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Retail (814)	9.15	0.6 F	239,144 SF	15179	761	1636

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: R10

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Two- Family Residential* (210)	11.34	-	113 U	1164	86	115

<sup>\*</sup>Based on two-family lots

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: RS20

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Single- Family Residential (210)	1.32	-	2 U	19	2	2

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: **SP-R** 

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Multi- Family Residential (220)	-	-	396 U	2953	177	202

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: SP-R

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Residential Townhouse (230)	-	-	46 U	307	23	30

Traffic changes between maximum: CS, R10, RS20 and SP-R

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
-	-	-	-	-13102	-649	-1521

#### METRO SCHOOL BOARD REPORT

Projected student generation existing R10 district: <u>5</u> Elementary <u>5</u> Middle <u>4</u> High Projected student generation existing RS20 district: <u>0</u> Elementary <u>0</u> Middle <u>0</u> High Projected student generation proposed SP-R district: <u>9</u> Elementary <u>75</u> Middle <u>49</u> High

The proposed SP-R zoning will generate 207 more student than the existing R10 and RS20 zoning district. Students would attend Old Center Elementary School, Goodlettsville Middle School, and Hunters Lane High School.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval with conditions and disapproval without all conditions.

#### **CONDITIONS**

- 1. Permitted uses shall be limited to a maximum of 442 multi-family residential units. Short term rental property owner occupied and short term rental property not-owner occupied shall be prohibited.
- Remove all references to mixed-use or nonresidential use.
- 3. Finalized elevations shall be submitted with the final site plan.
- 4. The Preliminary SP plan is the site plan and associated documents. If applicable, remove all notes and references that indicate that the site plan is illustrative, conceptual, etc.
- 5. A corrected copy of the preliminary SP plan incorporating the conditions of approval by Metro Council shall be provided to the Planning Department prior to or with final site plan application.
- 6. The requirements of the Metro Fire Marshal's Office for emergency vehicle access and adequate water supply for fire protection must be met prior to the issuance of any building permits.
- 7. Comply with all conditions and requirements of Metro reviewing agencies.
- 8. If a development standard, not including permitted uses, is absent from the SP plan and/or Council approval, the property shall be subject to the standards, regulations and requirements of the RM20 zoning district as of the date of the applicable request or application.
- 9. Minor modifications to the preliminary SP plan may be approved by the Planning Commission or its designee based upon final architectural, engineering or site design and actual site conditions. All modifications shall be consistent with the principles and further the objectives of the approved plan. Modifications shall not be permitted, except through an ordinance approved by Metro Council that increase the permitted density or floor area, add uses not otherwise permitted, eliminate specific conditions or requirements contained in the plan as adopted through this enacting ordinance, or add vehicular access points not currently present or approved.
- Mr. Dunnavant presented the staff recommendation of approval with conditions and disapproval without all conditions.

Andrew Wolthers, 5016 Centennial Blvd, spoke in favor of the application.

Tom Peters, 1305 Apple Valley Rd, spoke in opposition to the application because the density is too high.

Lauren Hunt spoke in opposition to the application because the density is too high.

Bryan Quarles, 253 Connare, spoke in opposition to the application due to traffic concerns. He would also prefer single-family homes instead of apartments.

Vanessa Quarles, 253 Connare, spoke in opposition to the application due to traffic concerns and potential property value decrease.

Andrew Wolthers explained that a traffic study was completed and townhomes are an appropriate transition.

#### Chairman Adkins closed the Public Hearing.

MS. Farr spoke in favor of the application as it is consistent with policy; this is the type of place we want to see density.

Mr. Tibbs spoke in favor of the application – this area does encourage this type of development – but he would like to see some single family.

Ms. Moore spoke in favor of the application.

Mr. Gobbell spoke in favor of the application as it is consistent with policy, but he would like to see more diversity in the design.

Dr. Sims spoke in opposition to the application; the density is quite extreme, and more diversity in the type of housing feels like a legitimate request.

Ms. Farr moved and Mr. Elam seconded the motion to approve with conditions and disapprove without all conditions. (7-1) Dr. Sims voted against.

#### Resolution No. RS2019-319

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019SP-059-001 is approved with conditions and disapproved without all conditions. (7-1) **CONDITIONS** 

- Permitted uses shall be limited to a maximum of 442 multi-family residential units. Short term rental property 1. owner occupied and short term rental property – not-owner occupied shall be prohibited.
   Remove all references to mixed-use or nonresidential use.
- Finalized elevations shall be submitted with the final site plan. 3.
- The Preliminary SP plan is the site plan and associated documents. If applicable, remove all notes and 4. references that indicate that the site plan is illustrative, conceptual, etc.
- A corrected copy of the preliminary SP plan incorporating the conditions of approval by Metro Council shall be provided to the Planning Department prior to or with final site plan application.
- The requirements of the Metro Fire Marshal's Office for emergency vehicle access and adequate water supply for fire protection must be met prior to the issuance of any building permits.
- Comply with all conditions and requirements of Metro reviewing agencies. 7.
- If a development standard, not including permitted uses, is absent from the SP plan and/or Council approval, the property shall be subject to the standards, regulations and requirements of the RM20 zoning district as of the date of the applicable request or application.
- Minor modifications to the preliminary SP plan may be approved by the Planning Commission or its designee based upon final architectural, engineering or site design and actual site conditions. All modifications shall be consistent with the principles and further the objectives of the approved plan. Modifications shall not be permitted, except through an ordinance approved by Metro Council that increase the permitted density or floor area, add uses not otherwise permitted, eliminate specific conditions or requirements contained in the plan as adopted through this enacting ordinance, or add vehicular access points not currently present or approved.

#### 13. 2019S-188-001

#### **LOT 70 SOUTHWOOD SUBDIVISION**

Council District 27 (Robert Nash) Staff Reviewer: Logan Elliott

A request for final plat approval to create two lots for property located at 359 Brewer Drive, approximately 300 feet northeast of Byrne Drive, zoned RS10 (0.93 acres), requested by Delta Associates Inc., applicant; Jake Dickerson and Holly Dickerson, owners.

Staff Recommendation: Approve with conditions.

#### APPLICANT REQUEST

Final plat approval to create two lots.

#### Subdivision Request

A request for final plat approval to create two lots for property located at 359 Brewer Drive, approximately 300 feet northeast of Byrne Drive, zoned Single-Family Residential (RS10) (0.91 acres).

#### **Existing Zoning**

Single-Family Residential (RS10) requires a minimum 10,000 square foot lot and is intended for single-family dwellings at a density of 3.7 dwelling units per acre. RS10 would permit a maximum of 3 single-family lots based on acreage alone. Application of the Metro Subdivision Regulations may result in fewer lots.

#### **Community Character Manual Policy**

The site is within the Suburban Neighborhood Maintenance (T3 NM) and the Conservation (CO) policies. In order to achieve harmonious development, the Planning Commission has adopted Subdivision Regulations that include standards for specific transects. For T3 NM and CO, the conventional regulations found in Chapter 3 are utilized.

#### **PLAN DETAILS**

This request is for final plat approval to create two lots located at 359 Brewer Drive. This parcel currently contains one single-family dwelling unit on 0.91 acres of land.

#### **ANALYSIS**

Section 3-5.2 of the Subdivision Regulations establishes criteria for reviewing infill subdivisions and for determining their compatibility in Neighborhood Maintenance policies.

#### Zoning Code

The proposed lots meet the minimum standards of the RS10 zoning district.

#### Street Frontage

The proposed lots have frontage on a public street.

#### **Community Character**

Lot frontage analysis: the proposed lots must have frontage either equal to or greater than 70% of the average frontage of surrounding parcels or equal to or greater than the surrounding lot with the least amount of frontage, whichever is greater.

An analysis of the surrounding properties results in a minimum frontage requirement of 103 feet. Lot 2 is proposed to comply with the minimum lot frontage compatibility standard and exceed the minimum 103 feet of frontage. Lot 1 does not comply with the minimum lot frontage compatibility standard and is proposed to have less than 103 feet of frontage.

Lot 1 Frontage	
Proposed Frontage	78.55 ft.
Minimum Frontage	103 ft.
70% Average	87 ft.

Lot 2 Frontage	
Proposed Frontage	131.45 ft.
Minimum Frontage	103 ft.
70% Average	87 ft.

Lot area analysis: the proposed lots must have a total area either equal to or greater than 70% of the average area of surrounding parcels or equal to or greater than the surrounding lot with the least amount of area, whichever is greater.

An analysis of the surrounding properties results in a minimum lot area requirement of 14,636 square feet. Lot 1 is proposed to be 17,784 square feet and Lot 2 is proposed to be 23,094 square feet. Both lots meet the minimum lot area compatibility standard.

Lot 1 Area	
Proposed Size	17,784 sq. ft.
Minimum Size	13,939 sq. ft.
70% Average	14,636 sq. ft.

Lot 2 Area	
Proposed Size	23, 094 sq. ft.
Minimum Size	13,939 sq. ft.
70% Average	14,636 sq. ft.

Street setbacks: Future structures would have to comply with setbacks as established by Metro Zoning Code.

Lot orientation: Orientation of proposed lots is consistent with the surrounding parcels.

#### **Harmonious Development**

If the proposed subdivision meets subsections a, b, c and e of Section 3-5.2 within Subdivision Regulations, the Planning Commission following a public hearing in accordance with the Planning Commission Rules and Procedures, may consider whether the subdivision can provide for the harmonious development of the community by otherwise meeting the provisions of TCA 13-4-303(a). In considering whether the proposed subdivision meets this threshold, the Commission shall specifically consider the development pattern of the area, any unique geographic, topographic and environmental factors, and other relevant information. The Commission may place reasonable conditions, as outlined in Section 3-5.6, necessary to ensure that the development of the subdivision addresses any particular issues present in an infill subdivision and necessary to achieve the objectives as stated in TCA 13-4-303(a).

Staff finds that the lots resulting from the proposed final plat would achieve harmonious development with the development pattern of the surrounding properties.

While the proposed frontage of Lot 1 does not meet the compatibility standards, the proposed frontage is consistent with the lot frontages of the lots directly across the street and with lots further to the west and east of the subject

property on the same side of the street. The compatibility analysis encompasses a curvature of the road which gives the lots to the north a larger frontage than other lots in the neighborhood of similar size. Staff is recommending conditions to better ensure the subdivision of this property results in harmonious development.

# FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION

**Approve** 

#### STORMWATER RECOMMENDATION

Approve

#### WATER SERVICES RECOMMENDATION

#### Approve with conditions

Prior to issuance of building permits the required Sewer Capacity fees must be paid for lot 1.

# **PUBLIC WORKS RECOMMENDATION**

Approve

#### TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION

**Approve** 

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval with conditions.

#### **CONDITIONS**

1. No parking is permitted between the primary structure and street. Hard surfaces for vehicular access shall be limited to a driveway a maximum of 16 feet wide between the primary structure and the street.

#### Approve with conditions. Consent Agenda. (8-0)

#### Resolution No. RS2019-320

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019S-188-001 is approved with conditions. (8-0)

#### **CONDITIONS**

1. No parking is permitted between the primary structure and street. Hard surfaces for vehicular access shall be limited to a driveway a maximum of 16 feet wide between the primary structure and the street.

# 14. 2019S-190-001

#### KIRK ROBERT SEATON PROPERTY

Council District 03 (Jennifer Gamble)

Staff Reviewer: Amelia Lewis

A request for final plat approval to create six lots on properties located at 115 Hills Hollow Road and Hills Hollow Road (unnumbered), approximately 150 feet west of Dry Creek Road, zoned R20 (7.16 acres), requested by DBS & Associates, applicant; Eli Bates & Timothy Drowns, owners.

Staff Recommendation: Defer to the November 14, 2019, Planning Commission meeting.

The Metropolitan Planning Commission deferred 2019S-190-001 to the November 14, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. (8-0)

# 15. 2019S-193-001

#### SPRING BRANCH CLUSTER SUBDIVISION

Council District 10 (Zach Young) Staff Reviewer: Joren Dunnavant

A request for concept plan approval to create 23 lots with 5 duplex lots for a total of 28 units on property located at Spring Branch Drive (unnumbered), at the current terminus of Spring Branch Drive, zoned R20 (12.6 acres), requested by Catalyst Design Group, applicant; The Whitney Wilson Revocable Trust, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Approve with conditions.

#### APPLICANT REQUEST

Concept plan approval to create 18 cluster lots and 5 duplex lots for a total of 28 units.

#### Concept Plan

A request for concept plan approval to create 18 cluster lots and 5 duplex lots for a total of 28 units on property located at Spring Branch Drive (unnumbered), at the current terminus of Spring Branch Drive, zoned One and Two-Family Residential (R20) (12.6 acres).

#### **Existing Zoning**

One and Two-Family Residential (R20) requires a minimum 20,000 square foot lot and is intended for single-family dwellings and duplexes at an overall density of 2.31 dwelling units per acre including 25 percent duplex lots. R20 would permit a maximum of 29 lots with 7 duplex lot for a total of 36 units.

#### **Community Character Manual Policy**

The site is within the Suburban Neighborhood Maintenance (T3 NM) and the Conservation (CO) policies. In order to achieve harmonious development, the Planning Commission has adopted Subdivision Regulations that include standards for specific transects. For T3 NM and CO, the conventional regulations found in Chapter 3 are utilized.

#### **HISTORY**

A concept plan to create 24 lots with 5 duplex lots for a total of 29 units was previously filed to Metro Planning in June 2005. The case went to the Metro Planning Commission on December 12, 2006 and was approved with conditions. As the applicant did not move forward with development plans or a final plat within the timeframes outlined in the Metro Subdivision Regulations, the original concept plan has expired. The applicant is currently seeking approval of a new concept plan under the current Metro Subdivision Regulations.

#### **PLAN DETAILS**

The 12.6 acre site is located in the Madison area just south of Vietnam Veterans Boulevard. The plan proposes 18 single-family residential cluster lots and 5 duplex lots for a total of 28 units on property located at Spring Branch Drive. Lots range in size from 10,054 square feet to a little over 23,000 square feet.

All lots front and are accessed by a new public road, an extension of Spring Branch Drive, which connects to Twin Hills Drive. There is a future roadway extension proposed at the east end of the site. A standard type C landscape buffer is proposed on all sides of the site and open space is proposed in the middle of the site and on the southwest corner of the site at a total of 2.26 acres. A central open space is provided, which will also serve as bioretention area.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The cluster lot option in the Zoning Code allows for flexibility of design, the creation of open space, and the preservation of natural features in residential zoning districts. To promote creative designs, cluster lots are allowed to contain less than area than what is required by the base zoning district. The minimum lot area within a cluster subdivision can be reduced down two smaller base zone districts.

This concept plan includes 18 cluster lots under the R10 zoning, two reductions from the underlying R20 zoning, and 5 duplex lots under the R20 zoning. In cluster lot subdivisions, a minimum of 15% of the development must be set aside as open space. This development includes 3.6 acres of common open space which is 29% of the site gross acreage. The plan meets the requirements of the Subdivision Regulations and Zoning Code for a cluster lot subdivision.

# FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

- Fire department access roads shall comply with IFC Chapter 5 and Appendix D. Fire Department access roads shall have an unobstructed clear width of 20'. Where a fire hydrant is located on a fire apparatus access road the minimum width shall be 26' exclusive of shoulders. Aerial Fire Apparatus access shall be provided for any structure 30 feet or greater in height. Fire lane signage shall be provided in accordance with IFC D103.6.
- Limited building detail, and/ or building construction information provided. Any additional fire code or access issues will be addressed during the construction permitting process.
- Per Metro Ordinance all buildings/ homes shall be within 500' of a fire hydrant via approved fire department access route.

# PUBLIC WORKS RECOMMENDATION Approve

# STORMWATER RECOMMENDATION Approve

# TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

An access study may be required at development to determine appropriate traffic control.

# WATER SERVICES RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• Approved as a concept plan only with respect to sanitary sewer. Prior to final site plan/SP approval, sanitary sewer capacity must be reserved, any public sanitary sewer plans or private sewer site utility plans must be submitted and approved. Water provided to this site by the Madison Suburban Utility District.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval with conditions.

#### CONDITIONS

1. The stub street to the northeast depicted on the concept plan shall be fully constructed to the property line.

Joren presented the staff recommendation of approval with conditions.

Jeff Heinze, Catalyst Design Group, spoke in favor of the application; this project will help with some of the drainage concerns.

Clint Davis, 1909 Nancy Beth Ln, spoke in opposition to the application due to traffic and flooding concerns.

John Bennett, 2113 Paula Dr, spoke in opposition to the application due to flooding concerns and losing the wildlife in the area.

William Diaz, 267 Harbor Village, spoke in opposition to the application due to traffic and flooding concerns.

Lisa Wachter, 2116 East Hill Dr, spoke in opposition to the application due to stormwater concerns and the number of lots.

Doris Barnett, 2123 Paula Dr, spoke in opposition to the application due to flooding concerns.

Tony Pritchett, 147 Harbor Village Dr, spoke in opposition to the application; he is concerned with traffic, flooding, and losing the fish in the stream.

Marilyn Hayes, 505 Harbor Village Dr, spoke in opposition to the application.

Jeff Heinze explained that the property is not in a designated flood zone, there is not a stream through the site, and there was never a notice sent out for 17 lots. If this proposal doesn't move forward, nothing will ever change with regard to the drainage issues.

#### Chairman Adkins closed the Public Hearing.

Dr. Sims spoke in favor of the application and stated that this should help the neighborhood with a lot of the issues they are having.

Mr. Gobbell spoke in favor of the application and noted there are some issues, but the stormwater concerns should be addressed through this process.

Ms. Moore spoke in favor of the application and clarified that all stormwater regulations have to be met before the plan can be approved.

Mr. Tibbs spoke in favor of the application, but stated that another meeting with the neighborhood is essential to explain how this will help the stormwater issues.

Ms. Blackshear confirmed with Metro Storm Water that the project will not make the drainage worse, but instead should help improve the stormwater situation.

Ms. Blackshear moved and Mr. Tibbs seconded the motion to approve with conditions with an additional condition that the application should meet with the neighborhood association prior to approval of the final site plan. (8-0)

#### Resolution No. RS2019-321

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019S-193-001 is **approved with conditions** (8-0)

#### CONDITIONS

- 1. The stub street to the northeast depicted on the concept plan shall be fully constructed to the property line.
- 2. The applicant should meet with the neighborhood association prior to approval of the final site plan.

#### 16. 2019Z-141PR-001

Council District 32 (Joy Styles) Staff Reviewer: Jason Swaggart

A request to rezone from AR2a to MUL-A zoning for property located at 5200 Hickory Hollow Parkway, approximately 1,200 feet west of Bell Road (6.6 acres), requested by S+H Group, applicant; Everest Investments, G.P., owner.

Staff Recommendation: Approve.

#### APPLICANT REQUEST

Zone change from AR2a to MUL-A.

#### Zone Change

A request to rezone from Agricultural and Residential (AR2a) to Mixed-Use Limited-Alternative (MUL-A) zoning for property located at 5200 Hickory Hollow Parkway, approximately 1,200 feet west of Bell Road (6.6 acres).

#### **Existing Zoning**

Agricultural/Residential (AR2a) requires a minimum lot size of two acres and intended for uses that generally occur in rural areas, including single-family, two-family, and mobile homes at a density of one dwelling unit per two acres. The AR2a District is intended to implement the natural conservation or rural land use policies of the general plan. AR2a would permit a maximum of three duplex lots for a total of six residential units.

#### **Proposed Zoning**

<u>Mixed Use Limited-Alternative (MUL-A)</u> is intended for a moderate intensity mixture of residential, retail, restaurant, and office uses and is designed to create walkable neighborhoods through the use of appropriate building placement and bulk standards.

#### **ANTIOCH - PRIEST LAKE COMMUNITY PLAN**

<u>T4 Urban Community Center (T4 CC)</u> is intended to maintain, enhance and create urban community centers that contain commercial, mixed use, and institutional land uses, with residential land uses in mixed use buildings or serving as a transition to adjoining Community Character Policies. T4 Urban Community Centers serve urban communities generally within a 5 minute drive or a 5 to 10 minute walk. T4 CC areas are pedestrian friendly areas, generally located at intersections of prominent urban streets. Infrastructure and transportation networks may be enhanced to improve pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular connectivity.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The approximately six acre site is located on the north side of Hickory Hollow Parkway. It neighbors Hickory Hollow Mall, and the property is vacant. Surrounding uses include multi-family residential, office, retail and auto repair.

The site is located in an area identified by NashvilleNext as a Tier 1 Center. Areas identified as Tier 1 centers are pedestrian-friendly areas with frequent transit services that contain a dense mixture of land uses. The proposed MUL-A zoning district permits residential, retail, and office uses.

MUL-A zoning is consistent with the policy as the purpose is to create a mixture of uses. The policy calls for development that is urban in form. The proposed MUL-A district includes requirements intended to create development that is urban in form. It is also important to note that the existing AR2a zoning district is not consistent with the policy.

# FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• Fire Code issues will be addressed in the permit phase.

# TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• Traffic study may be required at time of development

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: AR2a

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Agricultural/ Residential	6.6	0.5 D	6 U	57	5	6
(210)*						

<sup>\*</sup>Based on two-family zoning

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUL-A

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Multi- Family Residential (220)	3.3	1.0 F	143 U	1041	68	82

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUL-A

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Restaurant (931)	1.7	1.0 F	74,052 SF	6209	55	61

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUL-A

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Retail (814)	1.6	1.0 F	69,696 SF	4424	222	477

Traffic changes between maximum: AR2a and MUL-A

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
-	-	-	-	+11617	+340	+614

#### METRO SCHOOL BOARD REPORT

Projected student generation existing AR2a district: <u>1</u> Elementary <u>1</u> Middle <u>1</u> High Projected student generation proposed MUL-A district: <u>16</u> Elementary <u>13</u> Middle <u>10</u> High

The proposed MUL-A zoning will generate 36 more students than the existing AR2a zoning district. Students would attend Eagleview Elementary School, Antioch Middle School, and Cane Ridge High School.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval. The proposed MUL-A zoning district is consistent with the T4 CC policy.

# Approve. Consent Agenda. (8-0)

### Resolution No. RS2019-322

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019Z-141PR-001 is approved. (8-0)

# 17. 2019Z-148PR-001

Council District 18 (Tom Cash)

Staff Reviewer: Joren Dunnavant

A request to rezone from OR20 to OG zoning for property located at 1929 21st Avenue South, approximately 100 feet south of Fairfax Avenue (0.19 acres), requested by S + H Group, applicant; James Crawford III and Nancy King Crawford, owners.

Staff Recommendation: Disapprove.

#### APPLICANT REQUEST

Zone change from OR20 to OG.

#### Zone Change

A request to rezone from Office/Residential (OR20) to Office General (OG) zoning for property located at 1929 21st Avenue South, approximately 100 feet south of Fairfax Avenue (0.19 acres).

#### **Existing Zoning**

Office/Residential (OR20) is intended for office and/or multi-family residential units at up to 20 dwelling units per acre. OR20 would permit a maximum of 4 units.

#### **Proposed Zoning**

Office General (OG) is intended for moderately high intensity office uses.

#### **GREEN HILLS - MIDTOWN COMMUNITY PLAN**

<u>D Office Concentration (D OC)</u> is intended to maintain, enhance, and create Districts where office use is predominant and where opportunities for the addition of complementary uses are present. The development and redevelopment of such Districts occurs in a manner that is complementary of the varying character of surrounding communities.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The proposal is for property located just off 21<sup>st</sup> Avenue South. The surrounding land use along 21<sup>st</sup> Avenue South is mostly office use with multi-family residential use to the west. The subject property is adjacent to the Hillsboro – West End National Register District. The property immediately adjacent to the site to the north, the Mayflower apartment building, is identified as National Register Eligible. A local historic district is located on the east side of 21<sup>st</sup> Avenue South. The relatively small lot is located in the middle of a block where all properties fronting 21<sup>st</sup> are currently zoned OR20.

The policy is District Office Concentration, with Neighborhood Evolving directly to the west. The goal of the D OC policy is to create districts that are mostly office uses while preserving the building rhythm along the street and maintaining the character of the neighborhood. This policy area aims to consider the surrounding transects along with the goals of the underlying policy. Given the size of the property, the location adjacent to historic resources, and the location midblock, the requested zoning district is inappropriate.

# TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• A traffic study may be required at the time of development.

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: OR20

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Office (710)	0.095	0.8 F	3,310 SFF	33	4	4

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: OR20

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Single-Family Residential (210)	0.095	20 D	1 U	10	1	1

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: OG

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Office (710)	0.19	1.5 F	12,414 SF	121	15	15

Traffic changes between maximum: OR20 and OG

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
-	-	-	-	+78	+10	+10

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends disapproval.

Mr. Dunnavant presented the staff recommendation of disapproval.

Chip Howorth spoke in favor of the application.

Matt Patempa, property owner, spoke in favor of the application and noted that this is consistent with the aesthetic of the neighborhood.

Jennifer Shephard, 2122 21<sup>st</sup> Ave, spoke in favor of the application.

Councilmember Cash spoke in favor of the application and noted a community meeting was held.

#### Chairman Adkins closed the Public Hearing.

Ms. Kempf explained that it's important to make the distinction between what is proposed and what is allowed.

Ms. Blackshear stated that she doesn't have a problem with what the applicant is proposing, not necessarily the zone change. The zone change allows much more than the law office to be located there. An SP would give more control over what could actually go there.

- Mr. Elam expressed concerns about the scale and what could potentially be done down the road.
- Ms. Moore spoke in support of an SP.
- Mr. Gobbell spoke in support of an SP.
- Dr. Sims encouraged the councilmember to come back with an SP.

Ms. Blackshear moved and Mr. Tibbs seconded the motion to disapprove with a request that staff assist the applicant in expediting an SP for the property. The SP should include elevations and massing. (8-0)

#### Resolution No. RS2019-323

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019Z-148PR-001 is disapproved with a recommendation that staff assist the applicant in expediting an SP for the property. The SP should include elevations and massing. (8-0)

#### 18. 2019Z-150PR-001

Council District 10 (Zach Young) Staff Reviewer: Patrick Napier

A request to rezone from R10 to MUL zoning for property located at 125 Liberty Lane, approximately 650 feet northwest of Gallatin Pike (1.46 acres), requested by Ragan-Smith, applicant; Peachtree Corners, owner.

Staff Recommendation: Approve.

#### **APPLICANT REQUEST**

Zone change from R10 to MUL.

### Zone Change

A request to rezone from One and Two-Family Residential (R10) to Mixed Use Limited (MUL) zoning for property located at 125 Liberty Lane, approximately 650 feet northwest of Gallatin Pike (1.46 acres).

#### **Existing Zoning**

One and Two-Family Residential (R10) requires a minimum 10,000 square foot lot and is intended for single-family dwellings and duplexes at an overall density of 4.63 dwelling units per acre including 25 percent duplex lots. R10 would permit 6 lots with a maximum of 1 duplex lots for total of 11 units, based upon acreage alone. Application of the subdivision regulations may result in fewer lots for this site.

#### **Proposed Zoning**

Mixed Use Limited (MUL) is intended for a moderate intensity mixture of residential, retail, restaurant, and office uses.

#### **MADISON COMMUNITY PLAN**

T5 Center Mixed Use Neighborhood (T5 MU) is intended to maintain, enhance, and create high-intensity urban mixed use neighborhoods with a development pattern that contains a diverse mix of residential and non-residential land uses. T5 MU areas are intended to be among the most intense areas in Davidson County. T5 MU areas include some of Nashville's major employment centers such as Midtown that represent several sectors of the economy including health care, finance, retail, the music industry, and lodging. T5 MU areas also include locations that are planned to evolve to a similar form and function.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The 1.46 acre site is located at 125 Liberty Lane, approximately 650 feet northwest of Gallatin Pike, north of Gallatin Pike and south of I-65. The site currently contains a single family structure and has frontage on Liberty Lane, a local street. Properties in the immediate vicinity include various commercial uses, including Rivergate Mall located to the west of the site.

The site is located in a large area of T5 MU policy, which is intended to create high-intensity mixed use development in urban neighborhoods that are envisioned to develop with a diverse mixture of residential, commercial, and office land uses.

Policy guidance in the Community Character Manual recommends that properties in T5-MU areas be among the most intense areas in Davidson County, with high-density mixed use development that is served by high levels of connectivity. The requested rezoning to MUL is consistent with the policy for the area and is appropriate given the surrounding land uses and land use policies. The proposed zoning allows for a mixture of uses, including residential, retail, and office uses. Additionally, the existing R10 zoning is inconsistent with the policy and allows for uses that are not in keeping with the goals of mixed-use policy areas.

# FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• Fire Code issues will be addressed in the permit phase.

# TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• A traffic study may be required at the time of development

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: R10

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Two- Family Residential* (210)	1.46	4.356 D	6 U	57	5	6

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUL

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Multi- Family Residential (220)	.78	1.0 F	33 U	209	17	23

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUL

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Restaurant (931)	.39	1.0 F	16,988 SF	1425	13	133

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUL

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Retail (814)	.39	1.0 F	16,988 SF	1079	55	117

Traffic changes between maximum: R10 and MUL

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
-	-	-	-	+2656	+80	+267

#### **SCHOOL BOARD REPORT**

Projected student generation existing R10 district: 2 Elementary 1 Middle 1 High Projected student generation proposed MUL district: 6 Elementary 5 Middle 4 High

The proposed MUL zoning district will generate 11 additional student than what would be generated under the existing R10 zoning. Students would attend Gateway Elementary School, Goodlettsville Middle School, and Hunters Lane High School.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval.

#### Approve. Consent Agenda. (8-0)

#### Resolution No. RS2019-324

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019Z-150PR-001 is approved. (7-0)

#### 19. 2019Z-151PR-001

Council District 02 (Kyonzté Toombs) Staff Reviewer: Jason Swaggart

A request to rezone from IWD to MUG zoning for property located at 261 French Landing Drive, approximately 540 feet east of Vantage Way (3.06 acres), requested by DBS and Associates, applicant; Kalpesh R Patel and Divyesh R Gopal, Et Al, owners.

Staff Recommendation: Approve.

#### **APPLICANT REQUEST**

Zone change from IWD to MUG.

#### Zone Change

A request to rezone from Industrial Warehousing and Distribution (IWD) to Mixed-Use General (MUG) zoning for property located at 261 French Landing Drive, approximately 540 feet east of Vantage Way (3.06 acres).

#### **Existing Zoning**

Industrial Warehousing/Distribution (IWD) is intended for a wide range of warehousing, wholesaling, and bulk distribution uses.

#### **Proposed Zoning**

<u>Mixed-Use General (MUG)</u> is intended to implement the moderate high intensity mixed-use policies of the general plan including residential, commercial, and office uses. It is an appropriate use near major concentrations of employment, commercial, or industrial uses.

#### NORTH NASHVILLE COMMUNITY PLAN

<u>D Employment Center (D-EC)</u> is intended to enhance and create concentrations of employment that are often in a campus-like setting. A mixture of office and commercial uses are present, but are not necessarily vertically mixed. Light industrial uses may also be present in appropriate locations with careful attention paid to building form, site design and operational performance standards to ensure compatibility with other uses in and adjacent to the D-EC area. Secondary and supportive uses such as convenience retail, restaurants, and services for the employees and medium to high density residential are also present.

<u>Conservation (CO)</u> is intended to preserve environmentally sensitive land features through protection and remediation. CO policy applies in all Transect Categories except T1 Natural, T5 Center, and T6 Downtown. CO policy identifies land with sensitive environmental features including, but not limited to, steep slopes, floodway/floodplains, rare or special plant or animal habitats, wetlands and unstable or problem soils. The guidance for preserving or enhancing these features varies with what Transect they are in and whether or not they have already been disturbed.

#### **ANALYSIS**

The approximately three acre site is located at the northeast corner of Venture Circle and French Landing Drive in Metro Center. The site currently contains a small building and parking lot.

The site is located in an area identified by NashvilleNext as a Tier 2 Center. Areas identified as Tier 2 centers contain pedestrian-friendly areas with frequent transit services that contain a dense mixture of land uses. There is an existing MTA bus route along French Landing Drive which runs directly by the site. The Conservation policy is responding to an identified retention basin on the site and the Conservation policy recognizes the need to protect sensitive environmental features while also allowing for additional development. Any future development will be subject to the Stormwater Department review.

The requested MUG zoning permits residential, retail, and office uses. MUG zoning is consistent with the policy as the purpose is to create a mixture of uses. While the D-EC policy is intended to maintain, enhance, and create concentrations of employment, a balance of nonresidential uses and residential uses is appropriate. Residential use at a moderate threshold supports the intent of the policy to create a campus-like setting. The D-EC policy does not aim to necessarily facilitate a vertically mixed environment so some high concentrations of residential would be appropriate as allowed in this zoning district and would support the primary function of D-EC area as places of

intense economic activity featuring large numbers of jobs. MUG is appropriate in this location given the mixture of surrounding land uses, transportation systems, and existing balance of surrounding residential and commercial uses.

# FIRE MARSHAL RECOMMENDATION

Approve with conditions

• Fire Code issues will be addressed in the permit phase.

# TRAFFIC AND PARKING RECOMMENDATION Approve with conditions

• Traffic study may be required at time of development

Maximum Uses in Existing Zoning District: IWD

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Warehousing (150)	3.06	0.8 F	106,634 SF	186	19	21

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUG

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Multi- Family Residential (220)	1.53	1.0 F	66 U	459	33	41

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUG

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Retail (814)	.77	1.0 F	33,541 SF	2129	107	230

Maximum Uses in Proposed Zoning District: MUG

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
Restaurant (931)	.76	1.0 F	33,105 SF	2776	25	259

Traffic changes between maximum: IWD and MUG

Land Use (ITE Code)	Acres	FAR/Density	Total Floor Area/Lots/Units	Daily Trips (weekday)	AM Peak Hour	PM Peak Hour
-	-	-	-	+5178	+146	+509

#### METRO SCHOOL BOARD REPORT

Projected student generation existing IWD district: <u>0</u> Elementary <u>0</u> Middle <u>0</u> High Projected student generation proposed MUG district: <u>1</u> Elementary <u>1</u> Middle <u>1</u> High

The proposed MUG zoning will generate three more students than the existing IWD zoning district. Students would attend Buena Vista Elementary School, John Early Middle School, and Pearl-Cohn High School.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval. The proposed MUG zoning district is consistent with the D-EC policy.

#### Approve. Consent Agenda. (8-0)

### Resolution No. RS2019-325

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that 2019Z-151PR-001 is approved. (8-0)

# **H: OTHER BUSINESS**

20. Adoption of 2020 Calendar

#### Resolution No. RS2019-326

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that the Adoption of 2020 Calendar is approved. (8-0)

21. Grant application to the Tennessee Department of Transportation Federal Congestion Mitigation Air Quality Program for continuation of Nashville Connector, a Transportation Demand Management program to help reduce mobile source emissions and improve air quality.

#### Resolution No. RS2019-327

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that the Grant application to the Tennessee Department of Transportation Federal Congestion Mitigation Air Quality Program for continuation of Nashville Connector, a Transportation Demand Management program to help reduce mobile source emissions and improve air quality is **approved. (8-0)** 

- 22. Historic Zoning Commission Report
- 23. Board of Parks and Recreation Report
- 24. Executive Committee Report
- 25. Accept the Director's Report and Approve Administrative Items

#### Resolution No. RS2019-328

"BE IT RESOLVED by The Metropolitan Planning Commission that the Director's Report and Administrative Items are approved. (7-0)

26. Legislative Update

# I: MPC CALENDAR OF UPCOMING EVENTS

#### October 24, 2019

MPC Meeting

4 pm, 700 Second Ave. South, Howard Office Building, Sonny West Conference Center

#### November 14, 2019

MPC Meeting

4 pm, 700 Second Ave. South, Howard Office Building, Sonny West Conference Center

# December 12, 2019

MPC Meeting

4 pm, 700 Second Ave. South, Howard Office Building, Sonny West Conference Center

# J: ADJOURNMENT

The meeting adjourned at 6:00pm		
	Chairman	
	Secretary	